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INTRODUCTION  

Defendants in the above-captioned case hereby move to dismiss Plaintiff Ninilchik 

Traditional Council’s (“NTC’s”) Complaint (ECF No. 1) (“Compl.”) for lack of subject-matter 

jurisdiction under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and for failure to state a claim under 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). Plaintiff has raised claims under the subsistence 

priority provisions of the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (“ANILCA”), 16 

U.S.C. §§ 3111–26, and under the judicial review provision of the Administrative Procedure Act 

(“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706.  

The Court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over these claims for three reasons. First and 

foremost, Plaintiff lacks standing, and its claims are unripe, because its allegations of injury are 

predicated on a particular resolution of ongoing agency decision-making. Second, the Court 

lacks jurisdiction to hear challenges to the Board’s delegations of authority because these are not 

final agency actions; one of the challenged delegations is barred by the statute of limitations; and 

the Board’s decision not to rescind the delegation is committed to agency discretion by law. 

Third, the Court cannot compel agency action that is discretionary and not legally required.  

Plaintiff also fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted under Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for two reasons. First, it cannot bring a stand-alone claim under the 

APA, and Section 706(2)(E) is not applicable here. Second, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for 

failure to provide a subsistence priority under ANILCA. 

BACKGROUND 

I. LEGAL BACKGROUND 

Congress enacted ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3101–3233, in part to protect the viability of 
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subsistence living. Finding that rapid population growth in Alaska was leading to a decline in 

subsistence resources, see 16 U.S.C. § 3111(3), Congress accorded “rural” Alaska residents a 

priority for “the taking on public lands of fish and wildlife for nonwasteful subsistence uses ... 

over the taking on such lands of fish and wildlife for other purposes.” 16 U.S.C. § 3114. 

Congress’s aim in passing ANILCA was to ensure a way of life “essential to Native physical, 

economic, traditional, and cultural existence and to non-Native physical, economic, traditional, 

and social existence.” Id. at § 3111(1). 

Although the State originally managed subsistence uses, the Alaska Supreme Court held 

in 1989 that the State subsistence laws violated the equal access provisions of the Alaska 

Constitution because the rural residency criterion “conclusively excludes all urban residents from 

subsistence hunting and fishing regardless of their individual characteristics....” McDowell v. 

State, 785 P.2d 1, 9 (Alaska 1989). The unenforceability of the state regime caused Alaska to fall 

out of compliance with ANILCA, and the federal government assumed regulatory authority 

effective July 1, 1990. See 55 Fed. Reg. 27114 (June 29, 1990) (temporary regulations); 57 Fed. 

Reg. 22940 (1992) (final regulations). The Secretary of the Interior created the Federal 

Subsistence Board (the “Board”) to administer the subsistence use priority. See 50 C.F.R. § 

100.10(a). The Board, in keeping with its statutory obligation under section 805 of ANILCA, 

established a network of ten subsistence regional advisory councils, including the Southcentral 

Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, to “provide a regional forum for the collection and 

expression of opinions and recommendations” on subsistence management issues. See 16 U.S.C. 

§ 3115; 50 C.F.R. § 100.11(a) (1999).  

The subsistence regulations published by the Secretaries of the Interior and the 
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Department of Agriculture permit individuals “adversely affected by Board decisions” to file 

motions for reconsideration of regulations issued by the Board under Subparts C and D of the 

subsistence regulations, which include authorizations for the subsistence taking of fish. See 50 

C.F.R. § 100.20(a) (reconsideration process); 50 C.F.R. § 100.27 (subsistence taking of fish).  

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Ninilchik Village, which is home to the federally-recognized Ninilchik Tribe, is located 

on Cook Inlet within an area on the Kenai Peninsula designated as rural under ANILCA. See 

Compl. ¶ 5; Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, Indian Entities Recognized and 

Eligible to Receive Servs from the U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs, 79 Fed. Reg. 4748, 4753 (Jan. 

29, 2014); 50 C.F.R. § 100.23, 36 CFR 242.23(a) (rural determinations). Plaintiff Ninilchik 

Traditional Village (“NTC”) claims “to represent[] the interests of its tribal members, the 

majority of whom comprise the community of Ninilchik Village.” See Comp. ¶ 5. Ninilchik has 

an annual subsistence allocation of salmon, including 1,000 late-run Chinook salmon, but claims 

that it has been unable to harvest its full allocated amount. See id. ¶ 11; 50 C.F.R. § 

100.27(e)(10)(iv)(D)(3)(ii) (allocation). 

In March of 2014, NTC submitted a proposal to the Board in which it sought regulatory 

changes that would allow residents of Ninilchik to operate a community subsistence gillnet on 

the upper Kenai, which is within the boundaries of the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge. See 

Compl. ¶ 18; Ex. A. This proposal would expand subsistence opportunities for residents of 

Ninilchik, who already have numerous subsistence fishing opportunities for salmon and resident 

fish using a variety of gear types on the Kasilof River, Tustumena Lake, the Russian River, and 

the Kenai River. See 50 C.F.R. §§ 100.27(e)(10)(A)–(I). 
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NTC's proposal, along with a proposal for a gillnet fishery on the Kasilof River, were 

considered by the Southcentral Regional Advisory Council, which recommended that the Board 

adopt both. See Compl. ¶ 21. At its public meeting on January 2015, the Board deliberated and 

took public testimony about the proposal. See id. ¶ 22. Staff from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service (FWS) and the Office of Subsistence Management testified in opposition, voicing their 

concerns that the indiscriminate nature of the proposed Kenai gillnet would negatively affect 

spawning grounds, escapement for early and late-run Chinook, and cause unintended mortality, 

including incidental catch of prohibited species. See id. ¶ 22; Ex B at 8–10. Despite the 

opposition, the Board voted by split decision to adopt the proposal, which included the 

requirement that the Federal in-season fishery manager approve an operational plan and issue a 

permit for the gillnet fishery. See 80 Fed. Reg. 28192 (May 18, 2015) (final rule); Ex. A at 2; 

Compl. ¶¶ 23–24. 

Soon after the Kenai gillnet proposal was finalized, the State of Alaska, the FWS, and a 

large number of individuals and organizations submitted requests for reconsideration to the 

Board in which they asked the Board to reverse its decisions to allow Ninilchik's use of gillnets 

on both rivers. See, e.g., Exs. E–G.  

Despite the pending motions for reconsideration, in late May NTC submitted operational 

plans for both the Kenai and the Kasilof to Jeffry Anderson, the in-season manager, for approval. 

See Compl. ¶ 26. Mr. Anderson approved NTC's operational plan for the Kasilof River, but has 

not acted on the operational plan for the Kenai. See Compl. ¶ 31, 34. However, in June of 2015, 

both the State of Alaska and Mr. Anderson, acting pursuant to his delegation of authority from 

the Federal Subsistence Board, see Ex. I, implemented emergency closures to Chinook fishing on 
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the Kenai River due to conservation concerns perpetuated by a poor return of early run Chinook. 

See Compl. ¶ 27–28; Ex. D (closure order). The State of Alaska rescinded its emergency closure 

order a week earlier than planned after the escapement goal had been reached. See Compl. ¶¶ 28, 

32.  

In late July of 2015, NTC sent multiple letters to the Board, requesting that the Board 

overturn the emergency closure, and rescind Mr. Anderson's delegations of authority to issue an 

emergency closure and to issue a permit for the Kenai gillnet fishery. See Compl. ¶ 36; Ex. C at 

2–3. The Board treated NTC's special action requests as motions for reconsideration on these 

actions. Ex. C at 4–5, 9. At a meeting convened on July 28, the Board took testimony from both 

Mr. Anderson, who reiterated his conservation concerns, and NTC representatives, who protested 

that the Tribe was not being given a subsistence priority as required by Title VIII. Compl. ¶ 39; 

Ex. C at 10–27. The Board voted not to rescind Mr. Anderson’s delegated authority or rescind the 

closure, but directed Mr. Anderson to continue working with NTC to try to develop an 

operational plan for the Kenai River. See Compl. ¶¶ 40–41; Ex. C at 28–32. After the end of the 

fishing season, NTC filed its Complaint on October 22, 2015. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

I. MOTION TO DISMISS 

A. Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction 

Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides for dismissal of an action 

for “lack of subject matter jurisdiction.” Faced with a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, a plaintiff bears the 

burden of proving the existence of the court’s subject matter jurisdiction. Thompson v. 

McCombe, 99 F.3d 352, 353 (9th Cir. 1996). A federal court is presumed to lack jurisdiction in a 
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particular case unless the contrary affirmatively appears. Gen. Atomic Co. v. United Nuclear 

Corp., 655 F.2d 968, 968-69 (9th Cir. 1981).   

B. Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim 

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) may be based on either a “lack of a cognizable legal theory” or “the 

absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal theory.” Balistreri v. Pacifica Police 

Dep’t, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990); Robertson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 749 F.2d 530, 

534 (9th Cir. 1984). In addition, a complaint that fails to provide the grounds for the requested 

relief beyond labels and conclusions will not survive a motion challenging the sufficiency of the 

claim for relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 

(2007); see also Sprewell v. Golden State Warriors, 266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001) (“Nor is 

the court required to accept as true allegations that are merely conclusory, unwarranted 

deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferences.”). 

C. Reliance on Documents Outside the Pleadings 

The Court may properly consider documents outside the pleadings on a motion to 

dismiss. On a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss, courts may consider affidavits and other 

evidence, and consideration of such material does not require conversion of a Rule 12(b)(1) 

motion into a motion for summary judgment. See St. Clair v. City of Chico, 880 F.2d 199, 201 

(9th Cir. 1989); McCarthy v. United States, 850 F.2d 558, 560 (9th Cir. 1988). Similarly, on a 

motion under Rule 12(b)(6), courts may, without converting the motion into a motion for 

summary judgment, consider documents referred to in a plaintiff's complaint even if they are not 

attached to that pleading so long as they are central to the plaintiff's claim and their authenticity 
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is not questioned. See Marder v. Lopez, 450 F.3d 445, 448 (9th Cir. 2006). Courts may also take 

judicial notice of matters of public record, including records and reports of administrative bodies 

and court filings. See Mack v. South Bay Beer Distributors, Inc., 798 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 

1986) (records and reports of administrative bodies); MGIC Indem. Corp. v. Weisman, 803 F.2d 

500, 504 (9th Cir. 1986) (court filings). 

The United States has filed a motion for judicial notice herewith requesting that the Court 

take judicial notice of the following documents: Plaintiff’s original proposal for the Kenai gillnet 

fishery, Ex. A (referenced at Compl. ¶ 18); excerpts of transcripts of the Federal Subsistence 

Board’s (the “Board’s”) January 22, 2015 and July 28, 2015 meetings, Exs. B and C, 

respectively; Jeffry Anderson’s June 17, 2015 order closing the subsistence Chinook fishery on 

the Kenai through August 15, 2015, Ex. D (referenced at Compl. ¶ 27); excerpts of the Fish and 

Wildlife Service’s (“FWS”), the State of Alaska’s, and the United Fishermen of Alaska’s 

Requests for Reconsideration, Exs. E–G; this Court’s order in Kenaitze Indian Tribe v. United 

States, Case No. A03-088-CV (JWS), Ex. H; and a May 3, 2002 letter from the chair of the 

Board to an FWS employee, Ex. I. 

II. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 

ANILCA provides for judicial enforcement of ANILCA’s subsistence priority in this 

Court. See 16 U.S.C. § 3117. The Court reviews restrictions on subsistence priority under the 

arbitrary and capricious standard of the APA. See Ninilchik Traditional Council v. United States, 

227 F.3d 1186, 1193–94 (9th Cir. 2000). The Court may only review final agency actions, not 

“preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action.” See 5 U.S.C. § 704; Gallo Cattle Co. v. 

U.S. Dep't of Agric., 159 F.3d 1194, 1198 (9th Cir. 1998).  
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When reviewing a final agency action, a court may only set aside agency action that is 

“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706(2)(A). This standard is “highly deferential, presuming the agency action to be valid and 

[requires] affirming the agency action if a reasonable basis exists for its decision.” Kern Cty. 

Farm Bureau v. Allen, 450 F.3d 1072, 1076 (9th Cir. 2006). The reviewing court’s “only task is 

to determine whether the Secretary has considered the relevant factors and articulated a rational 

connection between the facts found and the choices made.” Midwater Trawlers Coop. v. Dep't of 

Commerce, 282 F.3d 710, 716 (9th Cir. 2002). Furthermore, “where, as here, a court reviews an 

agency action ‘involv[ing] primarily issues of fact,’ and where ‘analysis of the relevant 

documents requires a high level of technical expertise,’ [courts] must defer to the informed 

‘discretion of the responsible federal agencies.’” Latino Issues Forum v. EPA, 558 F.3d 936, 941 

(9th Cir. 2009) (citation omitted); see also Lands Council v. McNair, 537 F.3d 981, 992 (9th Cir. 

2008) (en banc).  

A claimant under the APA can also seek to compel agency action when such action has 

been “unlawfully delayed or unreasonably withheld.” See 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). However, a civil 

action of this nature “can proceed only where a plaintiff asserts that an agency failed to take a 

discrete agency action that it is required to take.” Norton v. S. Utah Wilderness Alliance 

(“SUWA”), 542 U.S. 55, 64 (2004) (emphasis in original). 

ARGUMENT 

I. PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER 

JURISDICTION 

The Court lacks jurisdiction for three reasons. First and foremost, Plaintiff lacks standing, 
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and its claims are unripe, because its alleged injuries flow from implementation of a decision that 

is undergoing reconsideration. Second, the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear challenges to the 

Board’s delegations of authority because these delegations are not final agency actions, one of 

the challenged delegations is outside the statute of limitations, and the Board’s decision not to 

rescind the in-season manager’s delegated authority is committed to agency discretion by law. 

Third, the Court cannot compel agency action that is discretionary and not legally required. 

A. Plaintiff Lacks Standing, and its Claims are Unripe, Because the Board’s 
Decision to Authorize the Gillnet Fishery is Not Final  

Plaintiff lacks standing, and its claims are unripe, because its claims center around the 

Board and the in-season manager’s actions related to a gillnet fishery on the Kenai river, and the 

decision to authorize that fishery is not yet final. See Compl. 15–19. After the Board issued 

regulations for the Kenai gillnet fishery, a number of organizations and individuals filed requests 

for reconsideration of the Board’s decision to authorize the fishery. See, e.g., Exs. E–G. 

Therefore, the authorization of the gillnet fishery was not a final agency action, and there was no 

program for the in-season manager to implement, or for the Board to oversee.1 Plaintiff could not 

suffer any injury through any of the alleged harmful actions or failures to act relating to the 

gillnet fishery, such as any alleged failure on the part of the in-season manager or the Board to 

develop an operational plan or issue the permit; the Board’s decision not to rescind the in-season 

                                                 
1 Exhausion of administrative remedies is specifically required by statute. See 16 U.S.C. § 3117. 
Where Congress so mandates, exhaustion is required. McCarthy v. Madigan, 503 U.S. 140, 144 
(1992). See Gallo Cattle Co. v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 159 F.3d 1194, 1197 (9th Cir. 1998) (“while 
judicially-created exhaustion requirements may be waived by the courts for discretionary 
reasons, statutorily-provided exhaustion requirements deprive the court of jurisdiction and, thus, 
preclude any exercise of discretion by the court.”) Therefore, until the Board has acted on the 
requests of reconsideration authorizing the gillnet fishery, there is not only no such fishery, there 
also can be no judicial review of the Board’s action. 

Case 3:15-cv-00205-JWS   Document 10   Filed 01/25/16   Page 13 of 37



 
Ninilchik Traditional Council v. Towarak et al 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss   10 

 

manager’s authority to issue the permit; or the Board’s alleged lack of oversight of the in-season 

manager’s actions relating to the gillnet fishery.2 See Compl. ¶¶ 46–53. 

Before they may invoke the jurisdiction of the federal courts, Plaintiff must establish that it 

has standing to sue under Article III of the Constitution. See Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 

488, 492 (2009); L.A. Haven Hospice, Inc. v. Sebelius, 638 F.3d 644, 654-55 (9th Cir. 2011). The 

inquiry for standing and ripeness are intertwined. For a case or controversy to exist under Article 

III of the Constitution, a plaintiff must have standing to assert the legal claims in the complaint, 

and those claims must be ripe for review. See Renne v. Geary, 501 U.S. 312, 320 (1991). “The 

constitutional component of ripeness overlaps with the ‘injury in fact’ analysis for Article III 

standing.” Wolfson v. Brammer, 616 F.3d 1045, 1058 (9th Cir. 2010) (citing Thomas v. 

Anchorage Equal Rights Comm'n, 220 F.3d 1134, 1138–39 (9th Cir. 2000) (en banc)); see also 

Thomas, 220 F.3d at 1139 (“ripeness can be characterized as standing on a timeline.”) (citing 

U.S. Parole Comm'n v. Geraghty, 445 U.S. 388, 397 (1980); Gene R. Nichol, Jr., Ripeness and 

the Constitution, 54 U. Chi. L.Rev. 153, 172 (1987)). “The Ninth Circuit uses two factors to 

determine whether a controversy is ripe for judicial review: the fitness of the issues for judicial 

                                                 
2 This argument does not completely dispose of all of Plaintiff’s claims. Plaintiff also seems to 
challenge the in-season manager’s decision to issue the emergency closure order. See Compl. ¶¶ 
47, 48. The emergency closure closed all federal public waters below Skilak Lake on the Kenai 
River to Chinook harvest between June 18 and August 15, 2015. See Ex. D. In particular, the 
closure order prevented harvest of late run Chinook “through a dip net/rod and reel fishery at two 
specified sites on the Kenai River below Skilak Lake,” which was authorized by regulation from 
July 16 through September 30 see 50 C.F.R. §§ 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(D), 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(D)(2)(ii). 
Thus, the emergency closure prevented harvest of Chinook (but not other salmon species) using 
the dip net/rod and reel fishery from July 16 through August 15, and Plaintiff has standing to 
challenge the emergency closure order. However, as discussed in more detail in Section II.B., 
below, Plaintiff’s challenge to the emergency closure order must be dismissed for failure to state 
a claim upon which relief can be granted. 
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decision and the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration.” Acura of Bellevue v. 

Reich, 90 F.3d 1403, 1408 (9th Cir. 1996) (citing Dietary Suppl. Coal., Inc. v. Sullivan, 978 F.2d 

560 (9th Cir. 1992); Abbott Labs. v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 148–49 (1967)). Here, both factors 

weigh in favor of dismissal. 

First, Plaintiff’s claims are not ripe for judicial review because the Board has not yet 

completed the process of determining whether to authorize the gillnet fishery.  While it initially 

decided to authorize the fishery, 50 C.F.R. § 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J), multiple parties have filed 

requests for reconsideration, and that reconsideration process is still underway. See e.g., Exs. E–

G. In ICC v. Board of Locomotive Engineers, the Supreme Court held that when a motion for 

reconsideration is pending, an order under reconsideration is nonfinal. See 482 U.S. 270, 284–85 

(1987) (see also Acura, 90 F.3d at 1407) (“exercise of an optional appeal to a Department ALJ 

renders the initial . . . decision nonfinal for the purposes of judicial review . . . .”). This 

conclusion is further supported by the Board’s regulations, under which the Board’s decision 

only represents a final decision if the request for reconsideration is denied. See 50 C.F.R. § 

100.20(g). Accordingly, in Kenaitze Indian Tribe, this Court determined that the Board’s 

designation of the Kenai Peninsula as rural was not final when a motion for reconsideration was 

pending under 50 C.F.R. § 100.20, and it dismissed the case on that basis. See Ex. H. Similarly, 

here the Board’s decision to authorize the gillnet fishery was not final because multiple motions 

for reconsideration are pending on that decision, and thus the actions by the in-season manager 

and the Board in implementing the decision are not fit for judicial review. 

Second, because the Board’s decision to authorize the gillnet fishery is not final, any 

harm that Plaintiff alleges from the in-season manager’s implementation of that decision is 
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speculative. When assessing ripeness, the court considers “whether the plaintiffs face ‘a realistic 

danger of sustaining a direct injury as a result of the statute's operation or enforcement,’ or 

whether the alleged injury is too ‘imaginary’ or ‘speculative’ to support jurisdiction.” Thomas, 

220 F.3d at 1139; see also DBSI/TRI IV Ltd. P'ship v. United States, 465 F.3d 1031, 1039 (9th 

Cir. 2006); Clinton v. Acequia, Inc., 94 F.3d 568, 572 (9th Cir. 1996) (“In the absence of an 

immediate and certain injury to a party, a dispute has not matured sufficiently to warrant judicial 

intervention.”) (internal quotations omitted)). Here, because the decision to approve the gillnet 

fishery itself is not final, Plaintiff’s alleged injuries from implementation of that decision remain 

contingent upon the Board’s reconsideration process. After reviewing the requests for 

reconsideration, the Board could decide to reverse its original decision to approve the gillnet 

fishery altogether. Or it could approve the fishery with different rules, possibly changing the role 

of the in-season manager. Plaintiff would only have standing, and its claims would only be ripe, 

if it is unable to engage in gillnet fishing after the Board completes its reconsideration process. 

Because Plaintiff’s injury remains contingent upon future events that may or may not occur, any 

harm that Plaintiff may suffer is speculative. 

Additionally, should the Board decide that the pending requests for reconsideration are 

justified, Plaintiff will have the opportunity to submit comments and testimony on the proposed 

new decision. See 50 C.F.R. § 100.20(f) (“If the request is justified, the Board shall implement a 

final decision on a request for consideration after compliance with 5 U.S.C. §§ 551–559 

(APA).”). Thus, Plaintiff cannot show that it has suffered procedural harm. See Cent. Delta Water 

Agency v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv., 653 F. Supp. 2d 1066, 1086–87 (E.D. Cal. 2009) (finding 

that plaintiffs did not suffer procedural harms because they will have “additional legally-
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guaranteed opportunities to participate” in future proceedings) (citing Muhly v. Espy, 877 F. 

Supp. 294, 300 (W.D. Va. 1995); Bennett Hills Grazing Ass’n v. United States, 600 F.2d 1308, 

1309 (9th Cir. 1979)).  

 In sum, this Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s claims as unripe and for failure to allege a 

concrete injury, because Plaintiff cannot demonstrate that its claim fit for judicial review and 

because Plaintiff cannot show that it will suffer any concrete harm if the Court defers its 

consideration of Plaintiff’s claim. 

B. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction to Hear Challenges to the Board’s Delegation 
of Authority  

1. The Board’s Delegations of Authority were not Final Agency Actions 

In its Complaint, Plaintiff seems to challenge two specific delegations of Board authority 

to the in-season manager. First, it challenges a delegation to the in-season manager of authority 

to “issue special actions when necessary to assure the conservation of healthy fish stocks and to 

provide for subsistence use of fish,” which was authorized by 50 C.F.R § 100.10(d)(6), and 

accomplished by letter on May 3, 2002 (“the 2002 delegation”). See Compl. ¶ 25 (citing 50 

C.F.R. § 100.10(d)(6), ¶ 48; Ex. I (May 3, 2002 letter). And second, Plaintiff appears to 

challenge the delegation of authority to the in-season manager to approve an operational plan for 

the Ninilchik gillnet fishery, accomplished by rulemaking on May 18, 2015. See Subsistence 

Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska, 80 Fed. Reg. 28187, 28192 (May 18, 

2015) (final rule); 50 C.F.R. § 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J)(2); see also 50 C.F.R. § 100.10(d)(6) (Board 

may delegate authority to “specify permit requirements.”). The Board reaffirmed this latter 

delegation by unanimously voting at its July 28, 2015 meeting not to rescind the in-season 

manager’s delegated authority to approve the operational plan. See Ex. C at 28–29.  
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As discussed below, any challenge to the 2002 delegation, even if it could be challenged, 

is barred by the statute of limitations. See Section B.2, infra. And any challenge to the 2015 

delegation must be dismissed because it seeks judicial review of a non-final agency action, in 

violation of 5 U.S.C. § 704. The 2015 delegation is not a final agency action for the same reasons 

described in Section I, supra, because it too is the subject of an ongoing reconsideration process. 

However, even assuming that the delegations could be challenged despite being time-barred and 

despite being the subject of a reconsideration process, the claims would still fail because 

delegations of agency authority to individual government officials are internal government 

actions of a procedural nature and inherently non-final within the meaning of Bennett v. Spear, 

520 U.S. 154, 177–78 (1997).  

The Supreme Court in Bennett established a two-prong test for determining whether an 

agency action is final.  

First, the action must mark the ‘consummation’ of the agency's decisionmaking 
process —it must not be of a merely tentative or interlocutory nature. And second, 
the action must be one by which ‘rights or obligations have been determined,’ or 
from which ‘legal consequences will flow . . . .’ 

Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177–78 (1997) (other citations omitted). Delegations of agency 

authority to subordinate government officials do not meet either prong.  

First, delegations of agency authority to individual officials do not mark the 

“consummation” of the agency’s decisionmaking process. Instead, they are a procedural 

mechanism that direct who may issue an emergency action should the need for it arise, or who 

should approve an operational plan. In that sense, delegations are similar to the settlement 

guidelines at issue in Chemical Manufacturers Association v. EPA. 26 F. Supp. 2d 180 (D.C. Cir. 

1998). There, the D.C. Circuit considered an EPA settlement policy that was published in the 
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Federal Register and “articulat[ed] principles for EPA to implement when negotiating 

settlements” under CERCLA. See id. at 182. The court determined that this policy did not “mark 

the consummation of EPA’s decisionmaking process” because it was “a starting point that states 

principles intended to guide future agency action.” See id. at 183 (citing Bennett, 520 U.S. at 

158; Franklin v. Mass., 505 U.S. 788, 798 (1992)). Likewise, here the delegations of authority 

merely set out guidelines for future agency decision-making, and are not themselves the 

consummation of any decision-making process. See also Ecology Ctr. v. U.S. Forest Serv., 192 

F.3d 922, 925 (9th Cir. 1999) (finding that monitoring did not “mark[] the culmination of a 

decision making process” because these actions were “only steps leading to an agency decision, 

rather than the final action itself.”) (citing Dalton v. Specter, 511 U.S. 462, 468 (1994)); c.f. City 

of San Diego v. Whitman, 242 F.3d 1097, 1101 (9th Cir. 2001) (EPA letter responding to city’s 

inquiry as to whether a certain law would apply in future proceedings did not satisfy the first 

Bennett prong because the decision-making process had not even began). 

Second, the delegations do not determine rights or obligations, nor do they have any legal 

consequences. Rather, they “are nothing more than general policy statements with no legal 

force.” See Ctr. for Auto Safety v. Nat'l Highway Traffic Safety Admin., 452 F.3d 798, 807–08 

(D.C. Cir. 2006) (holding that auto recall policy guidelines were general statements of policy and 

not subject to APA review). Nor do the delegations “impose an obligation, deny a right or fix 

some legal relationship.” See City of San Diego, 242 F.3d at 1102 (citing Bennett, 520 U.S. at 

178; Ass’n of Am. Med. Colleges v. United States, 217 F.3d 770, 780–81 (9th Cir. 2000)); see 

also Ukiah Valley Med. Ctr. v. FTC, 911 F.2d 261, 264 (9th Cir. 1990) (“When an action does not 

have a ‘direct and immediate ... effect on the day-to-day business’ of the subject party, it is not 

Case 3:15-cv-00205-JWS   Document 10   Filed 01/25/16   Page 19 of 37



 
Ninilchik Traditional Council v. Towarak et al 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss   16 

 

‘final.’”) (quoting FTC v. Standard Oil, 449 U.S. 232, 239 (1980)). Rights and obligations flow 

from the ultimate decisions of the in-season manager made pursuant to his delegated authority, 

not from the delegation itself. Thus, the delegations of authority do not meet the second Bennett 

prong. 

Because neither of the delegations are final agency actions, this Court does not have 

jurisdiction to review the delegations. See City of San Diego, 242 F.3d at 1097 (district court 

lacked subject matter jurisdiction under the APA to review letter that was not final agency 

action).  

2. Any Challenge to the Board’s 2002 Delegation is Outside the Statute 
of Limitations 

Plaintiff’s challenge to the Board’s delegation of authority to the in-season manager to 

issue emergency closure orders, see Compl. ¶ 48, is almost eight years late. This delegation 

occurred in May of 2002, see Ex. I, and thus, any challenge to it must have been brought by May 

of 2008. See 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a) (“[E]very civil action commenced against the United States 

shall be barred unless the complaint is filed within six years after the right of action first 

accrues.”). Thus, even if the 2002 delegation were a final agency action, Plaintiff’s challenge 

must be dismissed because it is barred by the statute of limitations. 

3. The Board’s Decision not to Rescind the Delegation is Committed to 
Discretion by Law 

Even assuming the Board’s decision not to rescind the in-season manager’s delegated 

authority was a final agency action, Plaintiff’s challenge to that decision must fail because the 

decision is committed to agency discretion by law under 5 U.S.C. § 701(a)(2) (exempting from 

judicial review agency action “committed to agency discretion by law.”).  
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Subsection 701(a)(2) excludes from judicial review agency actions “committed to agency 

discretion by law.” See 5 U.S.C. § 701(a)(2). “This narrow exception to the presumption of 

judicial review of agency action under the APA applies ‘if the statute is drawn so that a court 

would have no meaningful standard against which to judge the agency’s exercise of discretion.’” 

Drakes Bay Oyster Co. v. Jewell, 747 F.3d 1073, 1082 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting Heckler v. 

Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 830 (1985); citing Webster v. Doe, 486 U.S. 592, 599 (1988)). In Drakes 

Bay, the Ninth Circuit found that the Secretary of the Interior’s decision not to issue a special use 

permit was afforded complete discretion under the relevant statute, and thus the court could only 

review “whether the Secretary followed whatever legal restrictions applied to his decision-

making process,” and that the statute did not provide any such restrictions. See id. at 1082–85; 

see also Ness Inv. Corp.; v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 360 F. Supp. 127, 128-29 (D. Ariz. 1973) 

(“where the . . . agency has complete discretion in the issuance of permits . . . , the Court may not 

review an exercise of such discretion.”).  

Here, there is no law for the Court to apply in determining whether the decision not to 

rescind the delegation to the in-season manager was arbitrary and capricious. Neither the APA 

nor ANILCA provides guidance or restrictions on the Board’s ability to delegate its authority. See 

Am. Vanguard Corp. v. Jackson, 803 F. Supp. 2d 8, 12 (D.D.C. 2011) (“When a statute delegates 

authority to a federal officer or agency, subdelegation to a subordinate federal officer or agency 

is presumptively permissible.”) (quoting U.S. Telecom Ass'n v. FCC, 359 F.3d 554, 565 

(D.C.Cir.2004)). Furthermore, the delegation to the in-season manager occurred at the behest of 

Plaintiff, and went through notice-and-comment rulemaking. See 50 C.F.R. § 

100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J)(2); Ex. A (NTC’s original proposal). There are no meaningful standards that 
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would guide the Court in determining whether the decision not to rescind the delegation was 

arbitrary and capricious, and thus that decision is committed to agency discretion by law. See 

Drakes Bay, 747 F.3d at 1088 (“As Section 124 affords no basis for us to review the substance of 

the Secretary’s decision, we have no measuring stick against which to judge Drakes Bay’s 

various claims that the Secretary’s policy determination was mistaken.”). 

C. Insofar as Plaintiff Challenges the Board’s Failure to Take Certain Actions, 
the Claim Must Be Dismissed Because Plaintiff Has Failed to Identify a Relevant 
Legal Duty 

Even if the Board’s decision to authorize the gillnet fishery were justiciable, Plaintiff’s 

multiple claims that the Board and in-season manager failed to act to implement that fishery are 

not justiciable. In its complaint, Plaintiff asserts that the Board failed to: provide a priority under 

ANILCA, Compl. ¶ 46; provide substantive standards to guide the in-season manager or to 

properly oversee the in-season manager, id. ¶ 47; rescind the in-season manager’s emergency 

closure, id. ¶ 48, or otherwise take corrective action. See id. ¶ 51. Plaintiff also challenges the in-

season manager’s “failure” to “develop an operation plan” and “issue a permit.” Id. ¶ 53.3 But 

none of these grievances are justiciable because Plaintiff has failed to identify any discrete 

agency action that the agency is required to take. In addition, the relief Plaintiff has requested is 

far more specific than what the Court can provide under section 706(1) of the APA.  

The APA is a limited waiver of sovereign immunity, which only permits a court to 

compel agency action in certain circumstances. Section 706(1) of the APA authorizes a court to 

“compel agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed.” See 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

                                                 
3 Plaintiff alleges various “failure to act” claims in both their First and Second Claim for relief, 
see Compl. ¶¶ 45–55, and thus we address the claims by paragraph number instead of 
enumerated claim.  
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However, a court may compel agency action only if the plaintiff “asserts that an agency failed to 

take a discrete agency action that it is required to take.” SUWA, 542 U.S. at 64; see also Gros 

Ventre Tribe v. United States, 469 F.3d 801, 814 (9th Cir. 2006) (upholding the district court's 

dismissal of an APA claim for lack of jurisdiction because the government was not required “to 

take discrete nondiscretionary actions”). In SUWA, the Supreme Court rejected the argument that 

BLM had failed to comply with its mandate to not impair wilderness study areas under the 

Federal Land Management and Policy Act (“FLPMA”). See 542 U.S. at 67. The Court found that 

while FLPMA “was mandatory as to the object to be achieved, . . . it leaves BLM a great deal of 

discretion in deciding how to achieve it” and was not sufficiently clear “to support judicial action 

under § 706(1).” See id. The Court also rejected the plaintiffs’ attempt to compel BLM to comply 

with its land use plans, holding that the plans did not create a “legally binding commitment 

enforceable under § 706(1)” and did not even reach the question of whether there was a 

“sufficiently discrete requirement to be amenable to compulsion under the APA.” See id. at 72. 

Likewise, here all of Plaintiff’s failure to act claims fail to allege a discrete agency action the 

agency is required to take.  

First, while ANILCA requires that the Board provide a priority for subsistence uses, see 

16 U.S.C. § 3114, this obligation is not sufficiently discrete for the Court to order specific relief. 

Similar to the FLPMA provision at issue in SUWA, ANILCA “is mandatory as to the object to be 

achieved, but it leaves [the agency] a great deal of discretion in deciding how to achieve it.” See 

SUWA, 542 U.S. at 66. The Ninth Circuit has followed the Supreme Court’s reasoning in 

evaluating other broad agency mandates. In Gardner v. U.S. Bureau of Land Management, the 

Ninth Circuit examined FLPMA’s mandate to BLM to “achieve the broad objectives of 
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preventing unnecessary or undue degradation of public land.” See 638 F.3d 1217, 1222 (9th Cir. 

2011) (citing SUWA, 542 U.S. at 66, 71, 72; Hells Canyon Pres. Council v. U.S. Forest Serv., 

593 F.3d 923, 932 (9th Cir. 2010); Alvarado v. Table Mountain Rancheria, 509 F.3d 1008, 

1019–20 (9th Cir. 2007)). The Ninth Circuit found that because FLPMA did not specify 

precisely how BLM was to meet this objective, the Court could not order that BLM adopt 

particular restrictions on off-road vehicle use. See id. Likewise here, while ANILCA requires a 

particular objective, it does not specify how the Board is to achieve this objective. Thus, the 

Court cannot order the Board to take a particular action to provide a subsistence priority.  

Second, there is no legal requirement for the Board to provide substantive standards to 

guide the in-season manager in the exercise of his delegated authority. Contra Compl. ¶ 47. 

“When a statute delegates authority to a federal officer or agency, subdelegation to a subordinate 

federal officer or agency is presumptively permissible.” U.S. Telecom Ass'n, 359 F.3d at 565. 

Plaintiff alleges that this failure to provide standards violated Section 804 of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 3114, see Compl. at 18, but ANILCA provides no such requirement. Section 804 requires that 

subsistence uses should be accorded priority on federal land, but says precious little about how to 

accomplish this goal. The regulations authorizing the delegation to set harvest limits and to 

specify permit requirements say that delegated authority should be carried out “within 

frameworks established by the Board.” See 50 C.F.R. § 100.10(d)(6). While this creates a 

substantive requirement on the in-season manager to comply with any frameworks that the Board 

establishes to constrain the in-season manager, it does not create a duty on the part of the Board 

to issue these frameworks.  

 Plaintiff’s allegation that the Board violated the APA by not providing “substantive 
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standards” to guide the in-season manager, see Compl. ¶ 47, is an attempt to make an end-run 

around the fact that they cannot challenge either delegation. Not only are the delegations not 

final agency actions as discussed above in Section I.B.1, but the challenge to the 2002 delegation 

is barred by the statute of limitations, as discussed above in Section I.B.2, and the 2015 

delegation is not final because of the pending motions for reconsideration. See Section I.A. The 

Ninth Circuit has previously rejected attempts by plaintiffs to couch their claims as failure to act 

claims when they cannot challenge an agency action directly. See Hells Canyon, 593 F.3d at 

933–34 (finding that the plaintiff’s “reliance on § 706(1) is an attempt to end run around” the 

statute of limitations); Sea Hawk Seafoods Inc. v. Locke, 568 F.3d 757, 766 (9th Cir. 2009) 

(“their failure to act claim is an improper attempt to plead around the MSA’s thirty-day statute of 

limitations”). For those same reasons, this Court should reject Plaintiff’s attempts to use creative 

pleading to thwart the statute of limitations and the APA’s finality requirement.4 

Third, there is no substantive requirement for the Board to oversee the delegations of 

authority. Contra Compl. ¶ 49. In fact, once an agency delegates authority to a subordinate 

official, the delegating agency “may not thereafter invoke the delegated power” itself. See Black 

v. Snow, 272 F. Supp. 2d 21, 26 (D.D.C. 2003) aff'd sub nom. Black v. Ashcroft, 110 F. App'x 

130 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citing United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, (1973); United States ex rel. 

Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260 (1954)); see also Am. Vanguard Corp., 803 F. Supp. 2d at 

                                                 
4 Additionally, Plaintiff proposed the delegation of authority to the in-season manager to approve 
the operational plan. See Ex. A at 2. Had Plaintiff wanted substantive standards to exist to 
“guide” the in-season manager, they could have proposed them. Instead, representatives of NTC 
stated in the January 22, 2014 meeting that they preferred to have the operational plan approved 
by the in-season manager instead of by the Board because it would allow for more flexibility. 
See Ex. B at 6.  
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14 (“where an agency official delegates authority to a subordinate, the official binds himself by 

such delegation and may not exercise such powers absent express retention of them.”). No statute 

or regulation compels the Board to exercise oversight, as Plaintiff has requested that the court do. 

Fourth, Plaintiff cannot challenge the in-season manager’s “failure” to “develop an 

operational plan” under § 706(1), contra Compl. ¶ 53, because that is NTC’s responsibility, not 

the in-season manager’s. The regulation states that an organization that will be responsible for 

the gillnet fishery must “provide a written operational plan to the Federal fishery manager” that 

“identifies a person who will be responsible for fishing the gillnet” and “[i]ncludes provisions for 

recording daily catches” and other information. See 50 C.F.R. § 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J)(3). It is the 

in-season manager’s responsibility to consider the plan and issue the permit, see id. § (2), but the 

regulation does not require the in-season manager to develop the plan. Thus, this failure to act 

claim must be dismissed because it fails to allege an action the in-season manager is legally 

required to take.    

Fifth, Plaintiff cannot challenge the in-season manager’s “failure” to “issue a permit” for 

the gillnet fishery because issuance of the permit is a discretionary action, and thus is not legally 

required. The regulations provide that the in-season manager should award the registration 

permit, “in consultation with the Kenai refuge manager, based on the merits of the operational 

plan.” See 50 C.F.R. §§ 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J)(2) (emphasis added). The Board’s direction to the 

in-season manager to consult the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge manager and award the permit 

“based on the merits of the operational plan” would not make any sense if the issuance of the 

permit was intended to be automatic. The Board also made multiple votes at its July 28 meeting 

which show that it intended issuance of the permit to be discretionary. The Board voted not to 
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rescind the in-season manager’s delegated authority to consider and approve the operational plan, 

and ordered the in-season manager to continue to work with Ninilchik on an operational plan. 

See Ex. C at 28–32.5 Had the Board not intended to give the in-season manager discretion over 

the decision to issue the permit, it could have simply ordered the in-season manager to issue the 

permit, or revoked the in-season manager’s authority and issued the permit itself. There is no 

evidence that issuance of the permit was intended to be automatic, and thus issuance of the 

permit cannot be compelled because it is not “legally required.” See SUWA, 542 U.S at 66 

(action could not be compelled when law left agency “a great deal of discretion”).  

That the Court does not have jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s failure to act claims is further 

borne out by the relief it has requested. Plaintiff has requested that the Court not only enter 

declaratory judgment, but that it also order “the Board to submit regulations consistent with the 

judgment of the Court to be made part of the final judicial order;”6 and order “the Board to issue 

a community subsistence gillnet permit to Plaintiff for the Kenai River for the 2016 season” 

under 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). See Compl. at 19, ¶¶5–6. If the Court were to require that the Board 

take these specific actions, it would be creating “judicial entanglement in abstract policy 

disagreements which courts lack both expertise and information to resolve.” See SUWA, 542 

U.S. at 67. Similarly, in Hells Canyon, the Ninth Circuit found that it could not compel an 

agency to implement a specific action—in that case, moving a wilderness boundary—under 

                                                 
5 Furthermore, an agency’s interpretation of its own regulation, even an interpretation advanced 
for the first time in a legal brief, is entitled to deference. See Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 462–
63 (1997). 
6 Plaintiff may be referring to ANILCA’s judicial review provision, which says that a court can 
direct the State to submit regulations which satisfy the subsistence priority requirements. See 16 
U.S.C. § 3117(a). However, by its very terms, this provision does not apply to the federal 
government.  
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section 706(1). See 593 F.3d at 933. The Court cannot require such specific action here, and does 

not have jurisdiction to review the Plaintiff’s failure to act claims. 

II. PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM 

Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted under Rule 12(b)(6) for 

two reasons. First, it cannot bring a stand-alone claim under the APA, and even if it could, 

Section 706(2)(E) is not applicable here. Second, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for violation of a 

subsistence priority under ANILCA. 

A. Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief Must be Dismissed 

1. Plaintiff Cannot Bring a Stand-Alone APA Claim 

Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief alleges that Defendants violated the APA. Compl. ¶¶ 

52–55. This claim must be dismissed both because it is duplicative of its First Claim for Relief 

and because it fails to identify a relevant substantive statute. The APA provides a right of action 

where a person has suffered a “legal wrong because of agency action, or [has been] adversely 

affected or aggrieved by agency action within the meaning of a relevant statute . . . .” 5 U.S.C. § 

702 (emphasis added). “The relevant statute, of course, is the statute whose violation is the 

gravamen of the complaint . . . .” Lujan v. Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 886 (1990). Absent 

a statute with substantive standards, judicial review is precluded because there is no “law to 

apply” and “no meaningful standard against which to judge the agency’s exercise of discretion.” 

Or. Natural Res. Council v. Thomas, 92 F.3d 792, 798 (9th Cir. 1996) (quoting Lincoln v. Vigil, 

508 U.S. 182, 191 (1993)). Consequently, a claim that fails to identify “a relevant statute” under 

which APA review can proceed cannot qualify for the APA’s private right of action. See El 

Rescate Legal Servs. v. Exec. Office of Immigration Review, 959 F.2d 742, 753 (9th Cir. 1991); 
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Furlong v. Shalala, 156 F.3d 384, 394 (2d Cir. 1998); Sierra Club v. Martin, 110 F.3d 1551, 1555 

(11th Cir. 1997); Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. v. United States, 86 F.3d 789, 792 (8th Cir. 1996); 

Buckeye Cablevision, Inc. v. United States, 438 F.2d 948, 953 n.2 (6th Cir. 1971).  

Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief fails to state a claim because it contains only a stand-

alone APA claim: it invokes no “relevant statute” against which the Court could evaluate 

Defendants’ actions and instead merely recites standards of judicial review under the APA. To the 

extent Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief is premised on a violation of ANILCA, it is duplicative 

of their First Claim for Relief. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief should be 

dismissed. 

2. Plaintiff Fails to State a Claim Under 706(2)(E)  

To the extent the Court disagrees and finds that Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief 

should not be dismissed in its entirety, this Court should nonetheless dismiss the portion of 

Plaintiff’s Second Claim for Relief that alleges a violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(E). Section 

706(2)(E) provides that a reviewing court shall hold unlawful and set aside agency action 

“unsupported by substantial evidence in a case subject to sections 556 and 557 of this title or 

otherwise reviewed on the record of an agency hearing provided by statute.” See 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(E). Sections 556 and 557 are not applicable here, however. “Sections 556 and 557 need 

be applied ‘only where the agency statute, in addition to providing a hearing, prescribes 

explicitly that it be on the record.’” See United States v. Allegheny-Ludlum Steel Corp., 406 U.S. 

742, 757 (1972) (quoting Siegel v. Atomic Energy Comm'n, 400 F.2d 778, 785 (D.C. Cir. 1968)); 

(other citations and quotations omitted). Here, ANILCA does not require hearings for emergency 

closures. See 16 U.S.C. § 3126(b). There is also no other statutory requirement in ANILCA 
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providing for a hearing that could plausibly apply to Plaintiff’s other claims here, such as the 

delegation of authority to the in-season manager. Thus, Plaintiff’s claims under Section 

706(2)(E) must be dismissed. 

B. Failure to State a Claim for Violation of Subsistence Priority Under ANILCA 

Plaintiff fails to state a claim for a violation of Ninilchik’s subsistence priority. As a 

rural-designated community, see 50 C.F.R. § 100.10(a), Defendants agree that residents of 

Ninilchik are entitled to a subsistence priority. But even assuming that Ninilchik has been unable 

to meet its subsistence needs, see Compl. ¶ 11, such failure does not mean that the Board has 

violated ANILCA’s mandate to provide a subsistence priority. Contra Compl. ¶ 51. Nor does 

issuance of a temporary emergency action closing the early-run Chinook fishery, or any vote not 

to rescind the closure, violate ANILCA’s mandate to provide Plaintiff with a subsistence priority. 

Contra Compl. ¶¶ 47–48. 

A priority is just that: a priority. ANILCA provides that “the taking on public lands of fish 

and wildlife for nonwasteful subsistence uses shall be accorded priority over the taking on such 

lands of fish and wildlife for other purposes.” See 16 U.S.C. § 3114. Here, while Plaintiff has 

complained about sportfishing in state waters, see Compl. ¶¶ 12, 16, 17, 48, they have not 

provided any evidence that another group or individual, who does not have a subsistence priority, 

has been granted a conflicting right on federal waters of the Kenai. The gist of Plaintiffs’ 

argument seems to be that, because the residents of Ninilchik have not met their allocation, their 

subsistence priority rights under ANILCA are being violated. See Compl. ¶ 51. But nowhere does 

ANILCA guarantee that an allocation will be met. See 16 U.S.C. § 3114.  

Even without the Kenai gillnet, and with the emergency closure in place to protect early-
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run Chinook, the rural residents of Ninilchik have numerous subsistence fishing opportunities. 

These include: a dip net and rod and reel salmon fishery (including for early-run Chinook) on the 

upper mainstem of the Kasilof River; a rod and reel fishery for coho and pink salmon in 

Tustumena Lake; a fishery for resident fish on the Kasilof River; a dip net and rod and reel 

fishery for sockeye on the Russian River; a dip net and rod and reel fishery for many types of 

salmon on the Kenai; a dip net and rod and reel fishery for salmon, including early run Chinook, 

in the Kenai drainage; jigging gear and rod and reel fisheries for resident fish on the upper and 

lower Kenai; a fish wheel for salmon, including Chinook, on the Kasilof river; and a gillnet for 

salmon, including Chinook, on the Kasilof River.7 See 50 C.F.R. §§ 100.27(e)(10)(A)–(I). 

Therefore, the rural residents of Ninilchik have a number of subsistence opportunities not 

available to others, in keeping with their entitlement to a subsistence priority. 

ANILCA permits the Board to place limitations on Plaintiff’s priority because of 

conservation concerns. ANILCA specifically states that “the taking of populations of fish . . . on 

such lands for subsistence uses” may be restricted “to protect the continued viability of such 

populations.” See 16 U.S.C. § 3114. The Ninth Circuit has upheld the authority of the Secretary 

to “balance the competing aims of subsistence use, conservation, and recreation” when 

administering the subsistence priority. See Ninilchik, 227 F.3d at 1193.  

The emergency closure issued by the in-season manager was part of the balancing act 

contemplated by ANILCA. ANILCA specifically allows the Secretary to close public lands to 

subsistence uses on an emergency basis to protect the “continued viability of fish and wildlife 

                                                 
7 However, the Kasilof River gillnet is also the subject of pending motions for reconsideration. 
See e.g., Ex. G (United Fishermen of Alaska’s Request for Reconsideration). 
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population[s].” See 16 U.S.C. § 3126(b); 50 C.F.R. § 100.19(a) (regulations setting out 

emergency closures); 50 C.F.R. §§ 100.27(e)(10)(iv)(J)(4), (6) (gillnet fishery regulations 

contemplating closure) 50 C.F.R. § 100.27(e)(iv)(D)(2)(iii) (dip net/rod and reel fishery may be 

“superseded by Federal special action”). Here, the in-season manager did just that. The in-season 

manager closed the federal subsistence fishery for early-run Chinook because “of poor recent 

returns, the declining size and age structure of the run, and the uncertainty in 2015 run timing 

and run strength for the early-run . . . .” See Ex. D at 2. The in-season manager noted that the 

Alaska Department of Game and Fish had closed the Chinook sport fishery until June 30 on the 

entire river and on the portion downstream of Slikok Creek through Skilak Lake through July 31. 

See id. Acting pursuant to his obligation to balance conservation and subsistence concerns, the 

in-season manager closed the Chinook fishery through August 15. See id. 

Neither the emergency closure, nor the Board’s decision at the July 28 meeting not to 

rescind the emergency closure, were arbitrary and capricious restrictions on Plaintiff’s 

subsistence priority. See id.; Ex. C at 31–32. Plaintiff argues that because the early-run Chinook 

escapement goal was met on June 30, see Comp. ¶ 29, and the State of Alaska rescinded its 

closure on July 24, seven days early, see Compl. ¶¶ 32–33, the Board and the in-season manager 

acted arbitrarily and capriciously by not rescinding the federal closure as well. However, the in-

season manager’s statements at the July 28 meeting provide a reasonable basis for the Board to 

decide not to rescind the closure. With regard to the escapement goal, the in-season manager 

stated that the early run return “exceeded the lower bound of the early run escapement goal 

range,” but that the return was “the fourth lowest return on record and the fifth lowest 

escapement on record.” See Ex. C at 11. He also noted concerns about the small size of the 
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returning stock and the small amount of spawning salmon, and concluded that achievement of 

the lower bound of the escapement goal “does not alleviate our conservation concerns for this 

stock.” See Ex. C at 11–12. After the in-season manager explained his rationale for the 

emergency closure, and Plaintiff’s representatives testified in opposition, the Board voted not to 

rescind the emergency closure. See Ex. C at 11–12, 25–27. The Board was well aware of the 

conservation concerns that animated the emergency closure, and reasonably decided not to 

rescind the closure on that basis.  

The Board’s decision here was similar to the Board’s antler size restrictions that were the 

subject of challenge in Ninilchik. There, the Board used an antler size restriction on moose hunts 

to “protect bulls most likely to reproduce.” See Ninilchik, 227 F.3d at 1195. Although bull 

numbers had recently increased, in part due to a similar restriction by the state on nonsubsistence 

moose hunts, the Board determined that “an any-bull subsistence hunt would reduce the numbers 

of [middle-age bulls] to a dangerously low level” and “reverse the gains [in bull numbers] and 

jeopardize subsistence opportunities over the long term.” See id. at 1195. The Ninth Circuit 

found that that the Board “considered the relevant factors” and upheld the restriction. See id. 

There, as here, the Board reasonably considered “biological data” and determined that despite 

improvements in some areas, restrictions were still necessary. As the Ninth Circuit did in 

Ninilchik, the Court should similarly uphold the Board’s decision not to rescind the closure here. 

Plaintiff’s claim that its subsistence priority was violated must fail because ANILCA 

does not guarantee that Plaintiff be able to meet its allocation; Plaintiff had many other 

subsistence opportunities; and the emergency closure and the Board’s decision not to rescind the 

emergency closure were reasonably based on conservation concerns, as permitted by ANILCA. 
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CONCLUSION 

The Court lacks jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims relating to the gillnet fishery for three 

reasons. First, Plaintiff’s claim is unripe, and Plaintiff has not suffered harm, because the Board’s 

original decision to authorize the gillnet fishery is pending reconsideration. Second, the Court 

lacks jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s challenges to the Board’s delegations of authority to the in-

season manager because the delegations are not final agency actions, one delegation is over six 

years old, and the Board’s decision not to rescind its delegation of authority is committed to 

agency discretion by law. Third, Plaintiff’s claims that the Board and the in-season manager 

failed to act in a number of ways are not justiciable.  Plaintiff also fails to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted because Plaintiff cannot bring a stand-alone claim under the 

Administrative Procedure Act, and Plaintiff fails to state a claim for violation of its subsistence 

priority under ANILCA. For these reasons, and the reasons discussed above, the Court should 

dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint, ECF No. 1. 

Respectfully submitted this 25th day of January, 2016. 
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